3

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

NOV 10 2016

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
General Sessions Court

SC Court of Appeals

Honorable Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000044

The State,

Respondent

v.

James Bryson Munn,

Appellant

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

William G. Yarborough, III
Attorney for Appellant
522 N. Church Street
Greenville SC, 29601
Telephone (864) 331-1612
Fax (864) 370 0022

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the court err in its discretion by denying appellant's motion for reconsideration of sentence for a sentence with unwarranted disparity among similar defendants with similar charges and no prior criminal records?
2. Did the court err in failing to consider all goals of sentencing, namely appellant's rehabilitation, stating that rehabilitation was "almost a joke" when contemplating appellant's motion for reconsideration of sentence?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 13, 2015, appellant pled guilty to felony driving under the influence resulting in death before Honorable Judge Roger M. Young, Sr. and was sentenced to 14 years' incarceration under South Carolina law. S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2945 (2012). On December 30, 2015, Honorable Judge Roger M. Young, Sr. denied appellant's motion to reconsider the sentence.

Appellant had a history of disruptive behaviors associated with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, some co-occurring anxiety, depression, and performance anxiety issues. (ROA, p. 9, lines 20-24). On August 15, 2014, appellant, who was 20 years old at the time, purchased beer from a local grocery store. (ROA, p. 9, lines 22-24). Appellant then joined others in celebrating the life of appellant's best friend, Matt Gaither, at the home of Gaither's parents. (ROA, p. 10, lines 7-8). Gaither had recently been killed in an airplane crash. (ROA, p. 63, lines 1-4).

Appellant became intoxicated while mourning the loss of his best friend, and decided to spend the night on a couch at the Gaithers' home rather than drive home that night. (ROA, p. 63, lines 22-25, p. 64, lines 1-5). The following day, appellant awoke around 11:00 a.m., ate breakfast, and played a few games of pool. (ROA, p. 44, lines 19-21). At or around 12:30 p.m., appellant called his father, then left the Gaither's home in his SUV. (ROA, p. 44, lines 24-25). While traveling down River Road, appellant attempted to make a turn, went off the road, overcorrected, crossed the center line, and struck victim Kylie Gillette's vehicle head on, killing her instantly. (ROA, p. 11, lines 12-22). Appellant's blood alcohol content was determined to be .217% by a blood test. (ROA, p. 12, lines 19-23).

There were 19 felony DUI resulting in death cases resolved by final disposition in the Charleston County Court of general Sessions from April 14, 2006 until January 2013. (ROA, p.

114). The average of all maximum sentences imposed was 8.22 years, and the average active sentence actually imposed was only 5.72 years. (ROA, p. 115). The average state-wide sentence for people under the age of 25 charged with felony DUI with a death before appellant's charges were brought was 7.75 years. (ROA, p. 9, lines 3-10).

At least seven similar defendants had a BAC exceeding .190%, and only two were sentenced to a term exceeding 10 years. (ROA, p. 122). Appellant's BAC was .217% at the time of the accident. (ROA, p. 12, line 22). Samuel Thompson, Jr., who had a BAC of .238%, was only sentenced to 9 years for a felony DUI with death. (ROA, p. 122). Another similar defendant, Samuel McCauley, was given a sentence of 10 years suspended on the service of 5 years and 5 years of probation, and his BAC was .208% at the time of his felony DUI with death. (ROA, p. 122).

Appellant had no prior criminal record. (ROA, p. 13, line 1). Appellant does have a history of psychological issues, including ADHD and depression, as well as a history of counselling and treatment for those issues. (ROA, p. 71, lines 17-25, p. 81, lines 14-20). Appellant's psychologist, Dr. Lewis Waid, testified at the motion hearing that appellant's imprisonment is not a good situation for his rehabilitation, but that the right facilities and circumstances could be beneficial in terms of appellant's rehabilitation. (ROA, p. 80, lines 10-18). Dr. Waid suggested that facilities which have more intervention directed toward moving people into more productive lives and reducing recidivism would be much more beneficial for rehabilitation, rather than high security facilities which are difficult for psychologically fragile people such as appellant. (ROA, p. 80, line 15, p. 81, line 3). Appellant is currently serving his sentence in a high security facility which houses the state's Death Row inmates. (ROA, p. 79, lines 2-7).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“[T]he authority to change a sentence rests solely and exclusively in the hands of the sentencing judge within the exercise of his discretion.” *State v. Smith*, 276 S.C. 494, 498, 280 S.E.2d 200, 202 (1981). “On appeal, the trial court’s ruling will not be disturbed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law,” *State v. Sheldon*, 344 S.C. 340, 342, 543 S.E.2d 585, 585-586 (Ct. App. 2001). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000).

The appellate court’s task is to determine whether the trial court abused its discretion. *State v. Reed*, 332 S.C. 35, 503 S.E.2d 747 (1998). Sound judicial discretion must be exercised in every case with a thorough regard for what is just and proper under the circumstances. *State v. Scates*, 212 S.C. 150, 156, 46 S.E.2d 693, 695 (1948). “The reasonableness of any given sentence will largely depend upon the specific facts of each case and the district court’s consideration and application of the § 3553(a) factors to those facts.” *U.S. v. Hampton*, 441 F.3d 284, 287 (4th Cir. 2006), (referring to sentencing factors outlined in 18 U.S.C.A. § 3553(a) (2012)).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS DISCRETION BY FAILING TO CONSIDER THE NEED TO AVOID UNWARRANTED SENTENCING DISPARITIES WHEN CONSIDERING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION OF SENTENCING, AND THIS FAILURE EFFECTUATES AN ERROR OF LAW.

The judge erred in refusing to reconsider appellant's sentence in order to address the unwarranted sentence disparities with similar defendants. The trial court should consider several factors in the process of determining an appropriate sentence for a defendant. The South Carolina Supreme Court stated that the sentences imposed on other defendants for similar crimes are among these factors that may be considered, in order to avoid unwarranted disparity between sentences. *State v. Brewington*, 267 S.C. 97, 103, 226 S.E.2d 249, 251 (1976). The trial court failed to consider this factor when sentencing appellant to a term that is excessively disproportional to sentence terms for similar defendants. The average sentence in Charleston over the 6 years preceding appellant's sentencing was just 8.22 years, and the average active sentence was only 5.72 years. (ROA, p. 67, lines 3-10).

Additionally, appellant's sentence is disproportional to sentences given to similar defendants throughout the state. The prosecutor found that that the average sentence in South Carolina for defendants charged with felony DUI resulting in death is 14 years. (ROA, p. 66, lines 21-24). However, this number cannot be applied to appellant's case because it does not account for similar defendants, but rather takes the average for all defendants with those charges, regardless of age or prior convictions. (ROA, p. 66, line 21, p. 67, line 10). Appellant was only 20 years old at the time of his DUI, and had no prior criminal convictions. (ROA, p. 12, line 24, p. 13, line 1). Among similar defendants, those who were under the age of 25, the average sentence statewide is only 7.75 years, just over half the length of the sentence imposed upon appellant. (ROA, p. 67, lines 1-10). Even this number is heavily skewed upward by the case of

Austin Shackelford, who was 20 at the time his charges were brought, and was sentenced to 25 years. However, unlike appellant, Shackelford pled guilty to eight counts including two deaths in his felony DUI case. (ROA, p. 67, lines 10-13).

A proper sentence should be formulated using many factors. According to *Brewington*, the sentences imposed upon other defendants for similar offences are among the factors that are properly considered in determining a proper punishment. *Brewington*, 267 S.C. 97, 103, 226 S.E.2d 249, 251 (1976). Accordingly, the trial court should have considered the sentences given to similar defendants charged in Charleston, or even throughout the State, with felony DUI resulting in death. If the trial court had considered these sentences as factors, appellant's sentence should have reflected some similarity to those sentences. Instead, appellant's sentence of 14 years reflects a clearly unwarranted disparity with similar defendants.

In *State v. Brouwer*, the Court of Appeals reversed the defendant's sentence, noting that the record failed "to reflect an otherwise appropriate basis for [the defendant's] disparate sentence." *State v. Brouwer*, 346 S.C. 375, 388, 550 S.E.2d 915, 922 (Ct. App. 2001). Given the disparity in sentences in the current case, the record should reflect some appropriate basis for appellant's disproportional sentence. During the hearing for appellant's motion to reconsider the sentence, the court suggested excessive alcohol was a factor which justified the severe sentence. (ROA, p. 106, line 25, p. 107, line 10).

However, excessive alcohol does not aptly differentiate appellant's case from similar defendants. At least seven similar defendants had a BAC exceeding .190%, and only two were sentenced to a term exceeding 10 years. (ROA, p. 122). Appellant's BAC was .217% at the time of the accident. (ROA, p. 12, line 22). Samuel Thompson, Jr., who had a BAC of .238%, was only sentenced to 9 years for a felony DUI with death. (ROA, p. 122). Another similar

defendant, Samuel McCauley, was given a sentence of 10 years suspended on the service of 5 years and 5 years of probation, and his BAC was .208% at the time of his felony DUI with death. (ROA, p. 122). Clearly, excessive alcohol is not unique to the current case, and the existing disparity cannot be justified by this factor alone.

Although the court is not required to recognize federal law, 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) lists the factors that should be considered when imposing a sentence. According to §3553(a)(6), the court shall consider “the need to avoid unwarranted sentence disparities among defendants with similar records who have been found guilty of similar conduct” when determining the sentence to be imposed. 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(6) (2012). The Sentencing Guidelines for the United States Courts state that the court shall “consider the applicable factors in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) taken as a whole: when determining the application of the Sentencing Guidelines. 18 U.S.C.S. § 1B1.1(c).

Congress sought to achieve three objectives with the guidelines when it enacted the Sentencing Reform Act of 1984. The second of these objectives Congress sought was “reasonable uniformity in sentencing by narrowing the wide disparity in sentences imposed for similar criminal offenses committed by similar offenders. U.S.S.G., Ch. ONE, Pt. A, Subpt. 1(3), 18 U.S.C. Clearly, Congress has a strong interest in reducing sentence disparities, and this interest should be reflected in state criminal proceedings as well.

The Fourth Circuit ruled that the reasonableness of a sentence depends in part on the court’s consideration and application of the factors laid out in § 3553(a). *U.S. v. Hampton*, 441 F.3d 284, 287 (4th Cir. 2006). Therefore, a reasonable sentence should be made with consideration for the need to avoid unwarranted sentence disparity. Appellant’s sentence of nearly double the state average sentence for similar defendants does not reflect any consideration of this factor by the court.

The trial court should have considered the sentences of similar defendants with similar charges when reconsidering appellant's sentence. There is no evidence that the court took other sentences into consideration. The disparity between appellant's sentence and those in the same county and state reflects this lack of consideration. Accordingly, the trial court erred in its discretion by failing to consider the sentences of similar defendants with similar charges when considering appellant's motion for reconsideration of sentencing. This failure to consider similar sentences when denying appellant's motion to reconsider affected the outcome of appellant's sentencing.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO CONSIDER REHABILITATION AS A FACTOR WHEN CONTEMPLATING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION OF SENTENCE.

In his dissenting opinion in *Brouwer*, Judge Anderson states that one of the goals of sentencing is to provide the defendant with needed care or treatment. *Brouwer*, 246 S.C. 375, 388-89, 550 S.E.2d 915, 922 (Ct. App. 2001). At sentencing, there is a legitimate interest in the defendant's prospect for rehabilitation and restoration to a useful place in society. *Brouwer*, 246 S.C. 375, 389, 550 S.E.2d 915, 923. (Ct. App. 2001). In *Tapia v. U.S.*, the Supreme Court stated "a court ordering imprisonment must recognize that imprisonment is not an appropriate means of promoting correction and rehabilitation." *Tapia v. U.S.*, 564 U.S. 319, 320 (2011). Moreover, probation instead of imprisonment can satisfy the state's penal goals. *State v. Hamilton*, 333 S.C. 642, 649, 511 S.E.2d 94, 97 (Ct. App. 1999)(citing *Bearden v. Georgia*, 461 U.S. 660, 103 S. Ct. 2064, 76 L. Ed. 2d 221 (1983)).

Dr. Lewis Waid testified to the court that appellant had serious issues with ADHD, depression, and some substance abuse. (ROA, p. 71, line 17, p. 72, line 1). He testified that appellant has been guilt-ridden, remorseful, and fragile since the accident. (ROA, p. 74, lines 15-21). In fact, prior to his sentencing, appellant expressed intense remorse for the accident, at one point even attempting suicide out of guilt for what he had done. (ROA, p. 73, lines 18-19, p. 74, lines 2-5). Dr. Waid further testified that appellant was able to return to some level of functioning following the accident by returning to his employment. (ROA, p. 74, lines 13-18). Finally, he testified that there is a significant rate of improvement for people with issues similar to appellant's. (ROA, p. 76, lines 1-8).

According to Dr. Waid, this improvement can likely be accomplished through programs and treatment. (ROA, p. 76, line 22, p. 77, line 10). However, Dr. Waid also testified that a

prison sentence, especially at a high security facility, would not be healthy for appellant and that the circumstances would not be good for his rehabilitation. (ROA, p. 79, lines 2-22). Furthermore, the court's own language establishes a failure to rehabilitate in prison: "You know, I have long given up on prison being a place where you can get rehabilitation." (ROA, p. 106, lines 4-6).

Thus, pursuant to South Carolina case law and by the court's own reasoning, a prison sentence alone cannot accomplish the goal of rehabilitation for the appellant, and probation instead of prison time is a legally accepted method to accomplish rehabilitation. Instead, in this case, the appellant received a disproportionately long sentence which reflected no regard for his own rehabilitation. Rather than seeking a sentence that would incorporate all of the goals of sentencing, the court simply considered whether there would be a deterrent effect and punishment. (ROA, p. 106, lines 7-19).

Further, were the appellant's rehabilitation taken into account, it is likely that appellant's sentence would more closely resemble the sentence given to Samuel McCauley. McCauley, who had a BAC of .208% at the time of his felony DUI resulting in death, was sentenced to 10 years, suspended on the service of 5 years and 5 years of probation. (ROA, p. 68, lines 1-9). This split sentence reflects a consideration for the rehabilitation of the defendant. By splitting the sentence and allowing for probation, the court expressed an interest in allowing the defendant to seek treatment outside of prison, albeit with the threat of the full sentence hinging on his continued rehabilitation. Appellant was not given this same opportunity for rehabilitation, thereby threatening the ends of justice and the equal protection of the law.

Thus, the trial court failed to consider appellant's rehabilitation as a goal of sentencing and failed to address this factor when considering appellant's motion to reconsider the sentence.

The Supreme Court has ruled that imprisonment is not an appropriate means of promoting rehabilitation, and therefore the trial court's excessive prison sentence cannot serve any rehabilitative purpose for appellant. *Tapia v. U.S.*, 564 U.S. 319, 320 (2011). Further, probation instead of imprisonment can serve rehabilitative purpose. *Hamilton*, 333 S.C. 642, 649, 511 S.E.2d 94, 97 (Ct. App. 1999)(citing *Bearden v. Georgia*, 461 U.S. 660, 103 S. Ct. 2064, 76 L. Ed. 2d 221 (1983)). This failure to consider rehabilitation is a substantial error that resulted in an unreasonably severe prison sentence, and will result in poor rehabilitation, if any, for appellant. The court's own words clearly convey its opinion that rehabilitation is "almost a joke in this day and age." (ROA, p. 106, lines 6-7).

CONCLUSION

The trial court erred in sentencing appellant to a prison term with unwarranted disparity among the sentences given to similar defendants. The excessive sentence given to appellant exemplifies a failure to consider similar defendants' sentences. The trial court's failure to consider these sentences affected appellant's outcome at sentencing, and this effectuates an error in the trial court's reasoning.

Additionally, the trial court erred when it failed to consider rehabilitation as one of the goals for sentencing. The court sentenced appellant to 14 years in prison without regard to rehabilitation programs in lieu of such an excessive sentence. The trial court stated that rehabilitation was "almost a joke in this day and age," clearly indicating a failure to consider this goal of sentencing. This reflects the courts failure to consider appellant's rehabilitation, and this failure expresses an error in the trial court's reasoning.

As a result of these sentencing errors, which are errors of law, appellant's sentence should be reversed, and remanded for re-sentencing.