ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000044

RECEIVED

NOV 28 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JAMES BRYSON MUNN,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
OT Wallace Building
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The plea court properly held a reconsideration hearing, allowed testimony from Appellant’s doctor, heard the arguments of both parties—including statistics concerning sentencing in similar felony DUI cases involving death—and upheld the statutorily authorized sentence of fourteen years.

Appellant argues the plea court “erred in its discretion by failing to consider the need to avoid unwarranted sentencing disparities when considering Appellant’s motion for reconsideration of sentencing,” thus effectuating an error of law. On the contrary, the plea judge considered the sentencing disparities presented to him during the plea and again at the reconsideration hearing and acted within his discretion to decide to uphold his original sentence that already was well within the statutory range for felony DUI involving death. Because the plea judge sentenced Appellant appropriately within the statutory limits, his decision to deny Appellant’s motion to reconsider was proper, and this Court should affirm.

The trial court has broad discretion in giving sentences within the statutory limits. Brooks v. State, 325 S.C. 269, 271, 481 S.E.2d 712, 713 (1997). “A sentence is not excessive if it is within statutory limitations and there are no facts supporting an allegation of prejudice against a defendant.” Id. at 272, 481 S.E.2d at 713. “[An appellate c]ourt has no jurisdiction to review a sentence, provided it is within the limits provided by statute for the discretion of the trial court, and is not the result of prejudice, oppression or corrupt motive.” State v. Franklin, 267 S.C. 240, 246, 226 S.E.2d 896, 898 (1976). “As a general rule, so long as a sentence is within the statutory maximum, the court will not exercise its supervisory powers to inquire into the propriety of a sentence, even when that sentence creates a disparity with the sentences of co-defendants.” State v. Brouwer, 346 S.C. 375, 394, 550 S.E.2d 915, 925 (Ct. App. 2001).

“The authority to change a sentence rests solely and exclusively within the discretion of the sentencing judge.” State v. Warren, 392 S.C. 235, 237-38, 708 S.E.2d 234, 235 (Ct. App. 2011) (citing State v. Smith, 276 S.C. 494, 498, 280 S.E.2d 201, 202 (1980)). “An abuse of discretion occurs where the conclusions of the trial court are either controlled by an error of law or lack evidentiary support.” Id. at 238, 708 S.E.2d at 235 (citing State v. Winkler, 388 S.C. 574, 583, 698 S.E.2d 596, 601 (2010)).

Appellant argues the judge should have considered the sentences given to similar defendants in Charleston and around the state. He states in his brief, “If the trial court had considered these sentences as factors, appellant’s sentence should have reflected some similarity to those sentences. Instead, appellant’s sentence of 14 years reflects a clearly unwarranted disparity with similar defendants.” (App.Br.10). The State submits that Appellant’s argument is without merit and is based on mere speculation. Simply because he feels the judge’s sentence did not reflect consideration of similar sentences does not actually mean the judge did not consider those sentences. Furthermore, no error of law is present because judges are not required to consider other sentences. See State v. Charming, 333 S.C. 124, 131, 508 S.E.2d 851, 855 (1998) (noting that “Brewington does not stand for the proposition that trial courts are **required** to consider the sentences of codefendants”).

From the very beginning of the reconsideration hearing, Appellant presented the court with information about similar cases and what sentences others had received. He noted the average sentence in Charleston County is 5.72 years, while the average state-wide is fourteen years. (R. p. 66, lines 15–24). Appellant introduced evidence of other sentences in the Charleston area and around the state. The plea judge allowed the evidence to be presented and did not at any time indicate he would not consider the data provided. Indeed, even when the

State objected to Appellant's discussing other cases, the plea judge allowed him to continue. (R. p. 67, lines 14–25).

After presenting testimony from Dr. Waid, the State extensively argued to the judge that Appellant's sentence was appropriate based on the statistics from the Department of Corrections regarding people serving sentences for felony DUI involving death. The statistics showed that forty-seven people were serving ten to fifteen years, thirty people were serving fifteen to twenty years, and thirty-two people were serving twenty to twenty-five years. (R. p. 88, lines 1–6). The solicitor noted that in all of those cases the BAC was much lower than Appellant's, which was .217. (R. p. 88, lines 12–19).

Defense counsel then argued that 7.75 years would be a proper sentence. He agreed with the State that Appellant's BAC was high and argued the high number could have been due to having blood drawn rather than having it measured by a breathalyzer. He admitted Appellant did plead guilty and must be punished. He then asked the court to set a sentence in line with other cases around the state and again suggested it be between seven and eight years with a twenty-five year suspended sentence hanging over his head. He focused on Appellant's need for rehabilitation. He argues the judge should have looked more closely at the sentences of people Appellant's age. However, he presented a case in which another twenty-year-old was sentenced to twenty-five years.

After the judge heard all the arguments, he stated, "You know, **weighing all the things** and trying to figure out what is a proper sentence in any given case is a difficult matter on a best day." (R. p. 105, lines 18–20) (emphasis added). He wondered aloud whether fourteen years served justice in this case given the excessive speeding and excessive amount of alcohol involved. Ultimately, he determined nothing had changed his mind from the original sentence

and denied the motion to reconsider. It is apparent the judge considered everything presented to him when making his decision, including the sentence disparities.

Appellant cites State v. Brewington, 267 S.C. 97, 103, 226 S.E.2d 249, 251 (1976), for the proposition that “sentences imposed upon other defendants for similar offences are among the factors that are properly considered in determining a proper punishment.” (App.Br.10). The Brewington Court actually stated, “The sentence imposed upon a codefendant for the same offense and upon others for similar offenses are among a wide variety of factors which **may be** properly considered in determining a proper punishment.” Id. (emphasis added). However, “Brewington does not stand for the proposition that trial courts are **required** to consider the sentences of codefendants.” Charping, 333 S.C. at 131, 508 S.E.2d at 855. Brewington’s holding was merely that “the trial court did not commit reversible error in considering, among other factors, the sentence of an accomplice.” Id.

In support of his argument, Appellant also cites State v. Brouwer, 346 S.C. 375, 550 S.E.2d 915 (Ct. App. 2001), where the Court of Appeals reversed the defendant’s sentence when the record failed to reflect an otherwise appropriate basis for his disparate sentence, and Appellant compares the current case to it. However, the inappropriate basis in Brouwer refers to the judge’s basing his reasoning for disparate sentences on someone pleading guilty versus going to trial. The trial judge in Brouwer stated:

I’m a judge that gives serious consideration for someone admitting their guilt. I think that’s important. . . . I believe that’s the first step towards rehabilitation. . . . [T]here is no way in rhyme or reason for us to ever give a sentence for someone pleading guilty the same sentence for a jury trial. Then we have ignored the fact that a person has admitted their guilt. . . . And . . . I will take [that] into consideration in imposing this sentence, because it is not an admission of guilt.

Id. at 387, 550 S.E.2d at 922.

Here, no inappropriate basis exists. The plea judge considered the information about similar sentences, the excessive BAC, the excessive speeding, the statements from the victims' family, the statements from Appellant's family, the testimony of the psychologist, and all other factors presented to him. Nothing in the record indicates he based his decision on anything inappropriate like the court clearly did in Brouwer in announcing it gave different consideration to defendants who pled guilty versus those who went to trial.

Appellant argues his sentence is "nearly double the state average sentence for similar defendants." (App.Br.12). However, the data presented by the solicitor showed the average sentence in South Carolina for felony DUI resulting in death is fourteen years, the exact length of Appellant's sentence. While he does not dispute this is the state average, Appellant argues this number is inapplicable to him because it does not take into consideration age and prior convictions. He argues offenders under the age of twenty-five received an average sentence of 7.75 years. He argues "[t]here is no evidence that the court took other sentences into consideration," and argues "[t]he disparity between appellant's sentence and those in the same county and state reflects this lack of consideration." (App.Br.12). However, the fact that the plea judge sentenced Appellant to the same amount as the state average could indicate he did consider the average presented to him. (App.Br.12).

Here, the plea judge allowed both sides to present arguments, documents, witnesses, and family members before making his decision both at the plea hearing and at the reconsideration hearing. The judge was not required to sentence Appellant in accordance with others' sentences. Charping, 333 S.C. at 131, 508 S.E.2d at 855. Each sentence is based on the particular facts of the case. See State v. Brouwer, 346 S.C. 375, 394, 550 S.E.2d 915, 925 (Ct. App. 2001) ("As a general rule, so long as a sentence is within the statutory maximum, the court will not exercise its supervisory powers to inquire into the propriety of a sentence, **even when that sentence creates**

a disparity with the sentences of co-defendants.”) (emphasis added). Thus, regardless of whether he considered other sentences, the judge gave Appellant a sentence within the statutory range, and this Court should affirm his sentence.

II.

The plea court properly considered the goals of sentencing when contemplating Appellant's motion for reconsideration.

Appellant argues the court erred in failing to consider rehabilitation as a factor when contemplating his motion for reconsideration of sentence. However, the plea court properly considered the goals of sentencing before denying Appellant's motion for reconsideration, and this Court should affirm.

“The goals of sentencing are to reflect the seriousness of the offense, promote respect for the law, provide appropriate punishment, deter criminal conduct, protect the public from the defendant's criminal conduct, and provide the defendant with needed care or treatment. Punishment serves several purposes: retribution, rehabilitation, deterrence, and prevention.” State v. Brouwer, 346 S.C. 375, 388–89, 550 S.E.2d 915, 922–23 (Ct. App. 2001) (Anderson, J., dissenting) (internal citations omitted).

Appellant cites Tapia v. United States, 564 U.S. 319 (2011), for the proposition that imprisonment is not an appropriate means of promoting rehabilitation, concluding that here the plea court's “excessive” prison sentence cannot serve any rehabilitative purpose for Appellant. However, in Tapia's case, the error was specifically that the judge extended her sentence so that she could complete a rehabilitation program while incarcerated. The Court held that “a court may not impose or lengthen a prison sentence to enable an offender to complete a treatment program or otherwise promote rehabilitation.” Id. at 334.

Appellant's argument here is that the judge did not properly consider rehabilitation in sentencing him, not that the judge gave him a longer sentence to afford an opportunity for rehabilitation while in prison. If Appellant is arguing the judge did not consider rehabilitation at

all, it is difficult to see why a case about a judge giving a longer sentence in order to accommodate a rehabilitation program would apply.

In Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration of Sentence, he lays out circumstances of mitigation and extenuation, which include Remorse and Acceptance of Responsibility. (R. p. 116). He writes, "[Acceptance of responsibility] is the reason why persons who plead guilty more often receive lesser sentences than those who are convicted at trial." (R. p.116). This was an interesting argument to make considering Appellant earlier cited State v. Brouwer, 346 S.C. 375, 388, 550 S.E.2d 915, 922 (Ct. App. 2001), where the Court of Appeals found a judge's consideration of guilty pleas versus going to trial was an inappropriate basis for disparate sentences. Similarly, in State v. Follin, 352 SC. 235, 257-58, 573 S.E.2d 812, 824 (Ct. App. 2002), this Court ruled "a sentencing judge may NOT improperly consider a defendant's decision to proceed with a jury trial" and cautioned "the Bench that a trial judge abuses his or her discretion in sentencing when the judge considers the fact that the defendant exercised the right to a jury trial." Thus, it is clear it would have been highly improper for the plea judge to consider Appellant's guilty plea as a factor in his sentence and Judge Young was correct not to do so.

In his motion, Appellant also attempts to distinguish DUI from other crimes by pointing out that nobody intends to go out drinking and driving whereas "an actor will formulate a plan or intention to break into a house and to steal; or to commit armed robberies; or to engage in a fight that results in an assault charge or a homicide; or to sell or to use drugs." (R. p. 120). However, no criminal intent is required for the crime of DUI. The DUI statute is devoid of any language regarding knowledge or intent. See S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2930(A) (Supp. 2015). The statute is primarily a safety statute which seeks to punish an individual's drunken actions, not his or her intent. As recognized by our Supreme Court when considering an earlier version of the statute,

“The purpose of the statute is to prevent accidents and preserve persons from injury” State v. Long, 186 S.C. 439, 446, 195 S.E. 624, 627 (1938). See Case v. Com., 753 S.E.2d 860, 866 (Va. Ct. App. 2014) (“Thus[,] the concern is what could happen with an intoxicated individual behind the wheel, regardless of whether he intended to be there, turn on the car, or move the vehicle.”). Therefore, it is clear the Legislature intended DUI to be a strict liability offense. See Guinyard v. State, 260 S.C. 220, 227, 195 S.E.2d 392, 395 (1973) (“[W]hether knowledge and intent are necessary elements of a statutory crime must be determined from the language of the statute, construed in the light of its purpose and design.”); see also Case, 753 S.E.2d at 866 (“Bearing these concerns . . . in mind, we conclude that there is no mens rea requirement in [the DUI statute]. As long as the Commonwealth proves beyond a reasonable doubt that an intoxicated individual ‘operated’ his vehicle, regardless of intent, he is guilty of [DUI].”).

Equally confusing in Appellant’s motion is the statement that Appellant “does not require much for his rehabilitation; that, in fact, he was rehabilitated by the facts and experiences of this case.” (R. p.121). If that is indeed the case, Appellant’s argument that the judge did not properly consider rehabilitation does not seem to make sense. He argues a split sentence would reflect consideration of rehabilitation and continually argues Appellant should have gotten probation, not just a lesser sentence. His proposal at the reconsideration hearing was a sentence of twenty-three years suspended to the average sentence followed by five years of probation after his release. (R. p. 69, lines 2–19).

The State submits a split sentence including probation is certainly not the only sentence that would reflect a consideration of rehabilitation. However, even if the plea judge did not fully consider rehabilitation to the extent desired by Appellant, his sentence was nevertheless proper. He sentenced Appellant within the statutory limits for his offense, which is all that is required so long as the judge showed no prejudice against the defendant. See Brooks v. State, 325 S.C. 269,

271, 481 S.E.2d 712, 713 (1997) (noting the trial court has broad discretion in giving sentences within the statutory limits); id. at 272, 481 S.E.2d at 713 (“A sentence is not excessive if it is within statutory limitations and there are no facts supporting an allegation of prejudice against a defendant.”); State v. Franklin, 267 S.C. 240, 246, 226 S.E.2d 896, 898 (1976) (“[An appellate court] has no jurisdiction to review a sentence, provided it is within the limits provided by statute for the discretion of the trial court, and is not the result of prejudice, oppression or corrupt motive.”). Appellant failed to demonstrate the plea judge showed prejudice against him in sentencing him to fourteen years or in upholding that sentence and denying his motion to reconsider. This Court should affirm his conviction and sentence.

CONCLUSION